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Nevada Bar No. 11280 
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(702) 384-8424 
 
GREGORY J. KAMER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 0270 
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Nevada Bar No. 013625 
KAMER ZUCKER ABBOTT 
3000 W. Charleston Blvd., #3 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 
(702) 259-8640 
Attorneys for Russell Road Food and Beverage, LLC 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
JACQUELINE FRANKLIN, ASHLEIGH      )  
PARK, LILY SHEPARD, STACIE ALLEN,     )  Case No.: A-14-709372-C 
MICHAELA DIVINE, VERONICA VAN      ) 
WOODSEN, SAMANTHA JONES,        )  Dept. No.: 31 
KARINA STRELKOVA, LASHONDA,      ) 
STEWART, DANIELLE LAMAR, and             ) 
 DIRUBIN TAMAYO, individually, and on      ) DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO  
behalf of a class of similarly situated                  ) PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR  
individuals                       ) SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON   
                     ) EMPLOYEE STATUS  
Plaintiffs,                                   ) 
           )  
           ) Hearing Date: July 25, 2017 
vs.           ) Hearing Time: 9:30 a.m.  
            )   
RUSSELL ROAD FOOD AND        )   
BEVERAGE, LLC, a Nevada limited      )     
Liability company (d/b/a CRAZY        )   
HORSE III GENTLEMEN’S CLUB),       ) 
DOE CLUB OWNER, I-X,         ) 
ROE CLUB OWNER, I-X, and       ) 
ROE EMPLOYER, I-X,                              ) 
         Defendant        )  
AND RELATED COUNTERCLAIMS        
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Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DEFENDANT, RUSSELL ROAD FOOD & BEVERAGE, LLC’S OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON EMPLOYEE STATUS 

 
 COMES NOW, Defendant, RUSSELL ROAD FOOD & BEVERAGE, LLC D/B/A 

CRAZY HORSE III GENTLEMEN’S CLUB (“Defendant” and/or “Russell Road”), by and 

through its undersigned counsel, JEFFERY A. BENDAVID, ESQ., and STEPHANIE J. 

SMITH, ESQ. of the MORAN BRANDON BENDAVID MORAN, and GREGORY J. 

KAMER, ESQ. and KAITLIN H. ZIEGLER, ESQ. of KAMER ZUCKER ABBOTT, and 

hereby submits its Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment on Employee 

Status. 

     This Opposition is made and based upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities 

submitted herewith, together with the papers and pleadings on file herein, exhibits attached 

hereto, and oral arguments at the time of Hearing. 

 DATED this 6th day of July, 2017 

               MORAN BRANDON BENDAVID MORAN 

      /s/Jeffery A. Bendavid   
      JEFFERY A. BENDAVID, ESQ. 
      Nevada Bar No. 6220 
      STEPHANIE J. SMITH, ESQ. 
      Nevada Bar No. 11280 
      630 South 4th Street 
      Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
      (702) 384-8424 
 
      KAMER ZUCKER ABBOTT 
 
 
      /s/ Gregory J. Kamer, Esq. 
      GREGORY J. KAMER, ESQ. 
      Nevada Bar No. 0270 
      3000 W. Charleston Blvd., #3 
      Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 
      (702) 259-8640 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs are operating under the false legal premise that exotic dancers are employees of 

clubs, as a matter of law. See generally, Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen’s Club, 336 P.3d 951, 

957, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, *6 (Nev. 2014)(abrogated by statute). Plaintiffs persevere in their 

misinformation, by continuously choosing to ignore the requirements of NRS 608.0155, and 

instead attempt to rely on case law from different jurisdictions that do not have a presumptive 

independent contractor statute, and a federal test that is now inapplicable to their claims. This 

Court has already decided that NRS 608.0155 is applicable to the claims brought by 

Plaintiffs, and currently there are only individual Plaintiffs proceeding in this matter.  

Accordingly, each Plaintiff has to be analyzed pursuant to the criteria set forth in NRS 

608.0155.  Plaintiffs are independent contractors pursuant to the criteria set forth in NRS 

608.0155, and Defendant has already filed a motion for summary judgment detailing how the 

individual Plaintiffs satisfy the requisites to presumptively be independent contractors.  

Furthermore, Plaintiffs’ alleged “undisputed facts” are either entirely irrelevant, or fail to 

take into account supplemental evidence, such as their own sworn deposition testimony which 

contradicts the assertions on which they are basing their claim that they were actually treated 

as “employees.” See generally, Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment (“MSJ”).  To the 

contrary, Plaintiffs agreed to be independent contractors, behaved and conducted themselves 

as independent contractors, and were treated in accordance with their individual agreements 

with Defendant. It is not Defendant’s duty to ensure that each of the Plaintiffs is a successful 

independent contractor. Indeed, many of the “rules” which Plaintiffs argue exhibit control 

over how they performed, were not enforced, and Plaintiffs provide zero evidence in support 
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of their claims. Plaintiffs are merely attempting to slide by without actually performing a 

sufficient analysis under NRS 608.0155, and to rely on past successes when there was 

significantly different statutory authority and case precedence, or lack thereof.  

Plaintiffs premise their purported “employee” status, on the idea that an independent 

contractor should not have any rules, and cannot agree to any guidelines or restrictions for 

performing in or utilizing a venue, an idea which is patently false for practically any business. 

Although Plaintiffs would lead this Court to believe that each and every exotic dancer is a de 

facto employee, the statutory law paired specifically with the particular facts of this case fail 

to establish that Plaintiffs were misclassified, and in fact, establish that they are conclusively 

independent contractors. Strangely, Plaintiffs do not even perform an adequate analysis under 

any test or criteria, because they do not analyze any of their own individual circumstances or 

testimony, an essential task in light of their denial of class certification. NRS 608.0155 in 

conjunction with Plaintiffs’ blanket and erroneous arguments, and their purported, but 

actually irrelevant, “material facts”, do not entitle them to summary judgment.  

II.  PLAINTIFFS’ MISCHARACTERIZATION OF FACTS AND  
  IMMATERIAL FACTUAL ASSERTIONS 

 
Plaintiffs’ list of allegedly undisputed “material facts” (“SOF”) which purportedly support 

their assertion that they were somehow “employees”, mischaracterizes and massages the 

documents to fit an inaccurate narrative of what actually occurred in Defendant’s venue, 

Crazy Horse III. See generally, MSJ. Plaintiffs assert sweeping “facts” that do not address 

each of their individual situations, or why they were purportedly employees. Plaintiffs were 

denied class certification, and are proceeding as individuals, and no class presently exists or 

formerly existed. See Ratnayake v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, 2015 US Dist. LEXIS 25868 *20 
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(finding no class existed where certification had been denied); see also, Gibson v. Chrysler 

Corp., 261 F.3d 927, 941 (9th Cir. 2001). 

 Plaintiffs also attempt to utilize their “facts” to align with factors set forth by the FLSA’s 

economic realities test, which is not applicable to their wage claims, while simultaneously 

failing to actually substantiate that these “facts” are demonstrative of true control. Tellingly, 

Plaintiffs do not use any of their own individual testimony, verified interrogatory responses, 

and/or the evidence of their log-in/log-out documents, or charge sheets which directly refute 

some of their alleged SOF. See generally, MSJ; see also, Exhibits B-I.1. Even if Defendant 

does not dispute the facts set forth by Plaintiffs, their “facts” paired with the actual conduct of 

Plaintiffs and Defendant, clearly do not evidence that they are employees as a matter of law.  

As will be demonstrated with Plaintiffs’ own sworn deposition testimony, many of the 

“material facts” they assert evidence they were employees, are significantly and meaningfully 

varied, and only further evidence that each was an independent contractor.  See generally, 

Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment. 

SOF 1 states that Defendant “required” dancers to “obey” a list of Entertainer Guidelines 

and Entertainer Rules.  See MSJ, 7:2-5.  Defendant does not deny the existence of any 

guidelines or rules, as it operates a legal business subject to various federal, state, and county 

legal requirements. See generally, Answer to Third Amended Complaint; see also, generally, 

Exhibit A. However, this is not evidence of improper control, in fact, NRS 608.0155, 

specifically provides that an independent contractor can be bound by contractual obligations. 

See NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(1). Furthermore, Defendant’s interrogatory response, merely states 

that the guidelines speak for themselves. See Exhibit 1 to MSJ. To the contrary, as detailed 

                                                           
 1Defendant’s exhibits are filed concurrently herewith in its Appendix of Exhibits.  
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herein, Plaintiffs had significant autonomy and freedom in determining their schedules, 

outfits, performances, and other portions of their business as exotic dancers. See infra. 

SOF 2 declares that the “Club enforced its guidelines and rules by assessing fines against 

dancers, placing them on inactive status, or termination.” MSJ, 7:6-8. However, Plaintiffs 

mischaracterizes the evidence. Defendant’s response to Interrogatory No. 3, merely 

references the documents identified as Bates Nos. 48-54, and states that the documents speak 

for themselves. See Exhibit 1 to MSJ.  Plaintiffs, other than “guidelines” that were generally 

posted in Defendant’s facility (or provided as part of Defendant and respective Plaintiff’s 

initial agreement), do not provide any evidence that these “guidelines and rules” were actually 

enforced. See generally, MSJ.  Defendant’s Person Most Knowledgeable (“PMK”), Keith 

Ragano (“Ragano”) specifically testified when asked about “fines, inactive status, and 

termination” that “improper checkouts” would result in a dancer being placed “inactive until 

they came in again and spoke to a manager on how to property check out.” Exhibit A-

Excerpts from Deposition of Keith Ragano, 78:22-79:5.  

 A: But, I’m never enforcing fines. And I wouldn’t…termination or revoke their  
      license, they wouldn’t terminate them.” Id.  

 
Ragano went on to testify that he “would never terminate anybody.” Id at 80:1. Indeed, 

Plaintiffs did not offer testimony or evidence that even a single one of them was, in fact, 

terminated from performing at the club, or that they were actually fined, and/or paid any such 

fines. See generally, MSJ.  In fact, Plaintiffs have no evidence of alleged fines, and/or that 

they paid any fines that they were allegedly assessed. Exhibit B- Plaintiffs’ Individual 

Entertainer Charge Summaries. 

 Indeed, the Plaintiffs themselves left for a variety of reasons, not due to termination, for 

example Plaintiff Karina Strelkova testified to performing at Crazy Horse III for 
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approximately two years, and stopping only because her child got older. Exhibit E -Excerpts 

of Deposition of Karina Strelkova, 12:16-24. Whereas, Plaintiff Jacqueline Franklin testified 

she stopped because the hosts were allegedly rude to her. Exhibit F-Excerpts of Deposition of 

Jacqueline Franklin, 72:15-17. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ SOF 2 does not entitle them to 

summary judgment because it was not enforced, and none of the Plaintiffs were even 

subjected to those guidelines. 

SOF 3 states that Defendant “could fine or deactivate dancers” for some assorted conduct. 

This fact is essentially restating the same thing as SOF 2. Defendant does not dispute that it 

had some guidelines for entertainers, and maybe “could” have assessed penalties against the 

independent contractor dancers who utilized their premises and violated their “rules.” 

However, Plaintiffs agreed to utilize Defendant’s premises and thereby agreed to be subject to 

any contractual guidelines which the club set forth, which is evidenced by the simple fact that 

they actually performed at Defendant’s club. See Third Amended Complaint. Most 

importantly, Defendant did not actually fine Plaintiffs, thus giving Plaintiffs significant 

latitude in their conduct. See Exhibit A, supra, Id.; see also, Exhibit B.  

Defendant does not dispute that it required dancers to sign an “Entertainers Agreement” 

(“Agreement”) as Plaintiffs’ state in SOF 4, and such a fact only serves to support the 

contention that Plaintiffs were independent contractors free to sign agreements both with 

Defendant, and with any other venue or club. See Exhibit 2 to MSJ, Entertainers Agreement, 

RR0043-47. The Agreement specifically states that the parties intended and agreed that 

Plaintiffs would be only entertainers, who made use of the facilities. Id. The Agreement 

clearly sets forth that Plaintiffs were not required to work exclusively for Defendant, and that 
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Plaintiffs were responsible for providing all of the necessary equipment for their own 

performances. Id.   

  Defendant does not dispute that it paid the direct operational expenses for the club, as the 

venue has multiple bars, food service, several employees that worked as bartenders and/or 

servers, or in other management or security capacities. Exhibit A, 25:13-26:14; 27:13-28:9. In 

fact, there is no dispute that Crazy Horse III is a gentlemen’s club that provides a space for 

men and women to come and have alcoholic beverages, eat, and also provides a venue for 

women to present exotic dance performances and services. See generally, Defendant’s 

Answer to Third Amended Complaint and Counterclaims.  Defendant also does not dispute 

SOF 6 however, the fact that Defendant charged a cover charge to its guests who were also 

possibly patrons of Plaintiffs is entirely immaterial to Plaintiffs’ claims. 

Defendant does not dispute SOF 7, that Plaintiffs did not have to have  

“formal” dance training, however, Plaintiffs were supposed to have previous experience as an 

entertainer. See Exhibit 2 to MSJ, Agreement, RR0043-0047. As with any venue who presents 

entertainment, such as a concert hall or even restaurant, Defendant desired quality 

experienced entertainers, and relied upon an individual’s representations, and also their 

overall individual presence. Exhibit A, 100:6-7.  Defendant also does not dispute that it did 

not treat its dancers as employees or issue tax forms to them as stated in SOF 8.  Such a “fact” 

does not prove that Plaintiffs were, in fact, actually employees, and Plaintiffs fail to provide 

authority supporting this assertion. See generally, MSJ.  Indeed, each patron whom a Plaintiff 

performed for could have provided them a 1099, as that was who paid each Plaintiff for their 

exotic dance performances, including lap dances and/or VIP time. See generally, Third 

Amended Complaint. 
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Defendant does not dispute SOF 9, that it had guidelines regarding pricing for lap dances, 

due to industry standards, however, Plaintiffs were free to negotiate for more or less money 

from a patron. Exhibit A, 101:15-104:8, Exhibit C- Excerpts from Deposition of Danielle 

Lamar, 43:17-24; Exhibit D- Excerpts from Deposition of Lily Shepard, 58:3-6.  

Defendant disputes the blanket statement in SOF 10, that it “required” Plaintiffs to pay a 

house fee to dance at the club, in fact, it did not require a house fee to dance at the club from 

9:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. there was no house fee whatsoever.  Exhibit A, 45:17-25. Defendant 

does not dispute SOF 11, above all Crazy Horse III is a venue where patrons come to enjoy 

performances, have drinks, eat food, and listen to music. Exhibit A, 25:13-26:14; 27:13-28:9.  

As such, it makes sense that Defendant would seat some patrons.  However, that is due to the 

fact that there are “certain drink minimums in certain areas for the guests” not the Plaintiffs. 

Id. at 68:15-24. However, Plaintiffs could approach patrons in the various areas of the club to 

try to entice them to purchase lap dances or VIP time. Exhibit E, 53:8-17. Again, SOF 11, is 

immaterial to Plaintiffs’ claims, nor does it factor in to the criteria of NRS 608.0155 and if 

anything, illustrates how Defendant may have directed its patrons. Plaintiffs do not even 

mention this “fact” in their own (albeit incorrect as it is done pursuant to the FLSA test) 

analysis of the business relationship between Plaintiffs and Defendant. See MSJ.  

Defendant does not dispute SOF 12, or SOF 13, that it had multiple stages, and it would 

call dancers up on stage to perform, or that it would charge a $40 fee not to dance on stage. 

However, Plaintiffs could choose whether or not they wanted to dance on stage, and women 

who chose to dance on stage would not pay any fee. Exhibit A, 65:24-66:1; Exhibit E, 57:9-

10.   
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Defendant does not dispute, SOF 14, that it required dancers to check in and check out. 

The process is designed to keep the venue organized and so that Defendant can know which 

performer is inside of the venue and when, not so that they can control when she enters or 

leaves (which is at the dancer’s discretion). Exhibit A, 82:13-15, 105:9-15. Additionally, the 

check-out process is in order to verify the licenses on premises in accordance with legal 

requirements set forth by Metro (police), local, and/or other state guidelines. Exhibit A, 

113:23-114:3.  

Defendant also does not dispute SOF 15, SOF 16, and SOF 17.  Defendant did have VIP 

areas for more private dances, and Plaintiffs would check in with their guest, with a host, as 

there were drink minimums. Exhibit A, 109:23-110:4. However, Plaintiffs had a “very large 

ability” to negotiate fees with the patrons for their dancing, and the VIP host essentially just 

ensures that dancers and patrons are taken care of in terms of payment or if a patron desired to 

purchase dance dollars. Exhibit A, 102:6-104:8. Additionally, a dancer would be paid ahead 

of time prior to heading into the VIP room. Id. Plaintiffs would also be paid directly by the 

patrons they took into the VIP area. Id. Defendant disputes SOF 18, as there were some basic 

guidelines regarding dress codes. Plaintiffs had to comply with State law and/or regulations 

regarding dress code. Exhibit A, 108:3-109:1. However, Plaintiffs had significant latitude in 

deciding what to wear while performing at Defendant’s venue. Exhibit A, 43:10-21, 55:15-19, 

108:3-17; Exhibit C,18:4-5, 33:10-25; Exhibit D, 43:19-25; Exhibit E, 40:17-41:14; Exhibit 

F, 28:12-29:21. Exhibit G- Excerpts of Deposition of Ashleigh Park, 35:7-9; Exhibit H- 

Excerpts of Deposition of Stacie Allen2, 80:3-15. Plaintiff Michaela Devine aka Moore, 

testified as follows:  

                                                           
 2 Plaintiffs Stacie Allen and Michaela Devine aka Moore have no claims under the MWA, as they performed 
 beyond the two-year statute of limitations, and conceded they are outside of the applicable statute of limitations 
 for wages.  
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 Q.   What about on following times that you would go in to perform, did you have 
          to check in and show anyone what you were wearing?  

 
  A.   Um, they didn't really enforce any -- even though there was rules, they didn't  

        enforce what people wore.  So no. Exhibit I- Excerpts of Deposition of Michaela 
        Devine aka Moore, 19:19-25. 

  
Regarding SOF 19, Defendant does not dispute that it had dancers perform topless while 

they were on stage. However, Defendant does run an adult club, and dancers, including 

Plaintiffs agree to present exotic entertainment which includes dancing topless. See generally, 

Third Amended Complaint and Defendant’s Answer. Plaintiffs did not have to precisely 

follow that guideline, in fact it was up to a Plaintiff to decide how she was going to present 

her entertainment on stage. Exhibit A, 63:1-6.  

Defendant disputes that it mandated certain farewells by Plaintiffs, or any of its dancers as 

stated in SOF 20.  Except for pointing out an outdated guideline, Plaintiffs themselves do not 

provide any evidence, even in the form of self-serving testimony, that they were mandated to 

personally thank and/or smile at each patron prior to that patron leaving.   See generally, MSJ 

and Exhibits thereto. Defendant does not dispute SOF 21. The fact that Defendant required 

performers in its venue to behave like a civilized person who would be appealing to its 

patrons, and to enhance the experience of any person coming into their gentlemen’s club is 

merely common sense. Such a fact is not material to Plaintiffs’ wage claims. See NRS 

608.0155. Defendant’s list of general adjectives does not evidence much control, if any, over 

how Plaintiffs actually conducted their businesses of exotic dancing, but merely, if anything, 

were guidelines for any person utilizing its venue. Exhibit A, 51:24-52:12. Notably, these 

“requirements” fell under the definitions and guidelines specifically pertaining to “Hustling.” 

Id., see also, see Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1, RR0051.  
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Defendant does not dispute SOF 22, dancers could not run their own tabs, or ask patrons 

to reimburse the dance dollar redemption fee. Defendant did not want its personal business 

inner working and policies to be discussed with patrons who were there to be entertained and 

enjoy Defendant’s venue. Exhibit A, 69:11-70:3. However, Plaintiffs did not have to accept 

dance dollars whatsoever, if they chose not to do so. Exhibit A, 71:1-2, Exhibit C, 46:17-24; 

Exhibit E, 60:4-17; Exhibit F, 39:12-14; Exhibit G, 38:21-39:4; Exhibit H, 142:2-24. 

Defendant disputes the characterization in SOF 253 that each Plaintiff was assigned a 

“work shift” as asserted in Plaintiffs’ MSJ.  Defendant and a prospective dancer would agree 

upon a twelve (or 24 hour) slot that a dancer could access the venue to provide exotic dances. 

Exhibit A, 46:19-22, 47:3-7. However, there are no set amount of times they had to come to 

the club to perform or any set days. Exhibit A, 114:19-23. 

Defendant disputes SOF 26, that the club dictated that they chose Plaintiffs’ music, as the 

entertainers choose the playlist in the club and tell the DJ what type of music they like to 

dance to on stage. Exhibit A, 62:8-14.  Additionally, regardless of whether Defendant 

ultimately chose the song, the individual performer had control over their individual 

performances and style of dance. Exhibit A, 117:1-8. 

III.  LEGAL STANDARD 
 
Summary judgment is only appropriate when the “pleadings, depositions, answers to 

interrogatories, admissions, and affidavits, if any that are property before the court 

demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law.” Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 

(2005); see also Nev. R. Civ. P. 56(c).  A factual dispute is genuine when the evidence 

                                                           
 3 Plaintiffs’ list of undisputed facts is missing numbers 23 and 24, as such, Defendant merely used the number 
   designation as written to avoid any additional confusion. 
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construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, is such that a rational trier of fact 

could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.  See Id.  All the non-movant's statements must 

be accepted as true, all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the evidence must be 

admitted, and neither the trial court nor this court may decide issues of credibility based upon 

the evidence submitted in the motion or the opposition.  Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 

118 Nev. 706, 714, 57 P.3d 82, 87(2002).  Here, Plaintiffs have failed to evidence that there 

are sufficient material facts for this Court to find, that as a matter of law, Plaintiffs are 

employees.  In particular, Plaintiffs essentially ignore the criteria set forth by NRS 608.0155, 

and argue law that is entirely inapplicable, accordingly, summary judgment declaring that all 

exotic dancers who performed in Defendant’s venue were employees, should be denied. 

IV.  ARGUMENT 
 
A. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment Improperly Seeks the Reconsideration    
      of a Ruling in Violation of EDCR 2.24. 
 
EDCR 2.24 specifically provides:  
 
(a) No motions once heard and disposed of may be renewed in the same cause, nor 

 may the same matters therein embraced be reheard, unless by leave of the court 
 granted upon motion therefor, after notice of such motion to the adverse parties. 

 
(b) A party seeking reconsideration of a ruling of the court, other than any order  
 which may be addressed by motion pursuant to N.R.C.P. 50(b), 52(b), 59 or 60, 

 must file a motion for such relief within 10 days after service of written notice 
 of the order or judgment unless the time is shortened or enlarged by order. A 
 motion for rehearing or reconsideration must be served, noticed, filed and heard 
 as is any other motion. A motion for reconsideration does not toll the 30-day 
 period for filing a notice of appeal from a final order or judgment. 

 
Plaintiffs’ MSJ contends that the “Court’s interlocutory Order regarding the application of 

NRS 608.0155 to limit MWA claims was clearly erroneous and should be modified.” See 

MSJ, 10:2-22.  This is not a request appropriate for a motion for summary judgment. 

Plaintiffs are requesting reconsideration. Id. However, EDCR 2.24, as provided above, clearly 
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prohibits Plaintiffs’ request for the Court to modify its order on their failed Motion for Class 

Certification. There is no pending motion for rehearing or reconsideration. See generally, 

Docket. Therefore, it is improper for Plaintiffs to request the Court to modify its Order 

through their MSJ, as this Court already heard and decided this issue. As such, Plaintiffs’ 

entire argument regarding any “constitutional supremacy” and the purported impropriety of 

NRS 608.0155, should be entirely disregarded. 

Further, pursuant to EDCR 2.24 (b), requires a party seeking reconsideration of a court’s 

ruling must seek reconsideration within ten (10) days after notice of the entry of the order. 

This Court’s ruling denying class certification and finding that NRS 608.0155 was signed on 

April 6, 2017, and Notice of Entry of Order was filed on April 12, 2017.  Plaintiffs filed their 

Motion for Summary Judgment on June 19, 2017, which is well outside of the ten days 

provided for seeking reconsideration pursuant to EDCR 2.24(b).  As such, Plaintiffs’ attempt 

to argue that the Court’s ruling that NRS 608.0155 is applicable is erroneous and should be 

modified, within their summary judgment motion, is improper and in violation of EDCR 2.24 

(b). 

B. NRS 608.0155 Establishes that Plaintiffs Can Conclusively Presumptively Be 
 Independent  Contractors and Therefore They are Not Encompassed by the 
 MWA. 

 
Plaintiffs incorrectly argue that NRS 608.0155, which this Court has already found 

directly applicable to this litigation, improperly removes persons from the protections of the 

Nevada Minimum Wage Amendment (“MWA”).  MSJ, 17-20. Furthermore, Plaintiffs’ 

argument relies largely on their unfounded assumption that Plaintiffs would be, or somehow 

are, automatically employees pursuant to the definition of one under the MWA. Id.  However, 

no such employee presumption exists in Nevada. See generally, N.R.S. and Nev. Const. 
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Indeed, if the Nevada legislature had intended for such a presumption to exist, it could have 

instituted one like other states have chosen to do. See generally, California Labor Code, 

2750.5 et seq.  

NRS 608.0155 provides a test by which to conclude presumptively whether a person is or 

is not an independent contractor. See generally NRS 608.0155. There was no definition of an 

independent contractor in the MWA, or within NRS 608, prior to the institution of NRS 

608.0155. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court has found that when there is no direct conflict 

between the MWA and NRS 608 provisions, they can be “’…capable of coexistence’ so long 

as the statute is understood, as it may reasonably be, to supplement gaps in the MWA’s 

terms.” Perry v. Terrible Herbst, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 75 (Oct. 27, 2016) *7, citing L.D.G. v. 

Holder, 744 F.3d 1022, 1031 7th Cir. 2014). Here, there is clearly no direct conflict. The 

statutory test to determine whether someone is an independent contractor does not abrogate 

the definition of employee, it merely supplements a former gap within the MWA. See NRS 

608 et seq., see also Nev. Const. Art. XV. Further “[W]hen possible, the interpretation of a… 

constitutional provision will be harmonized with other statutes or provisions to avoid 

unreasonable or absurd results.” We the People Nevada ex rel. Angle v. Miller, 192 P.3d 

1166, 124 Nev. 874, 881 (2008)(internal citation omitted.)   

Plaintiffs cite to Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp., 327 P.3d 518, 521, 130 Nev. Adv. 

Op. 52, *4 (Nev. 2014) to support their proposition that somehow NRS 608.0155 changes the 

Nevada Constitution and therefore the statute should be ignored. See MSJ. 11:1-10. However, 

the Nevada Supreme Court clearly already found that the MWA definition of “employee” was 

“vague” and that “independent contractors,” a recognized and cognizable business 

relationship, were not within the definition of an “employee.” Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen’s 
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Club, 336 P.3d 951, 954 (Nev. 2014)(abrogated by statute.)  In fact, Terry plainly established 

that the Nevada Supreme Court (and therefore lower courts) shall look within Nevada statutes 

to determine definitions for both an employee and an independent contractor. Id. at 955.  

Here, NRS 608.0155 can be read and applied complementary with the MWA because it 

provides a clear definition and conclusive presumption that a person is an independent 

contractor if it meets certain criteria. See NRS 608.0155. Notably NRS 608.0155 does not 

state that a person who does not meet those criteria is automatically an employee, therefore it 

logically follows that the Nevada Supreme Court’s usage of the “economic realities” test may 

perhaps then be appropriate. The Nevada Supreme Court purposefully stopped short of 

declaring all gentleman’s clubs “employers” by definition, or all exotic dancers “employees.” 

See Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen’s Club, 336 P.3d 951(Nev. 2014.) The “economic realities” 

test is not a presumption or rebuttable presumption but a set of factors to determine the 

existence of an employment relationship. Id. Plaintiffs’ argument is that somehow NRS 

608.0155, cannot ever establish that a person is presumptively an independent contractor, 

thereby preventing any independent contractor relationships. MSJ, 11:18-22.  However, this 

is improper and impractical, as the MWA clearly states that only an “employee” is entitled to 

minimum wage, thereby automatically contemplating the existence of an independent 

contractor relationship. Art. XV, Sec. 16.  As such, Plaintiffs can, as this Court has already 

found, and should be subjected to the NRS 608.0155 independent contractor test, to 

determine whether they meet those criteria. 

C.  The MWA Definition of an Employee Does Not Incorporate or Mandate the Use 
 of the Economic Realities Test Employed in Evaluating Business Relationships 
 Pursuant to the FLSA Thus Plaintiffs’ Arguments Fail. 
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Plaintiffs did not file their wage claims in federal court or pursuant to the requisites of the 

FLSA, therefore their reliance on the federal standard continues to be erroneous, particularly 

in light of the institution of NRS 608.0155. Plaintiffs concede that the Nevada Supreme 

Court’s analysis of a wage claim pursuant to NRS 608, and one under the MWA, and 

therefore, NRS 608.0155 is just as apt in its application as it would be if the claim were 

brought pursuant to NRS 608 for unpaid wages.  Plaintiffs try to focus this Court’s attention 

on the definition of “employee,” and the Nevada Supreme Court’s application of the federal 

“economic realities” test. See generally, MSJ, Section B. However, to reiterate, the Nevada 

Supreme Court found that the definition of employee was vague as it is written in the MWA, 

and was forced to try to clarify what may satisfy the vague definition. See Terry v. Sapphire 

Gentlemen’s Club, 336 P.3d 951, 954 (Nev. 2014)(abrogated by statute.)  However, this does 

not make the “economic realities” test part of the definition of employee nor does it create the 

presumption of an employee.  NEV CONST. Art. XV, Sec. 16, see also, NRS 608 et seq.  And, 

the MWA undisputedly did not have a statutory definition of an independent contractor. Id. 

The evaluation of an employee/employer relationship is an entirely separate analysis, and one 

that is not conflicting with the analysis of whether a person is an independent contractor.  

Indeed, what Plaintiffs ignore, is that the MWA applies only when a person is an employee.  

NEV CONST. Art. XV, Sec. 16.  Again, there is no presumption that a person is an employee. 

Id, see also, NRS 608 et seq. The only presumption in Nevada law is for an independent 

contractor. Id. Also, to the extent this Court finds any value in the FLSA, the Nevada 

Supreme Court has already specifically stated its willingness to “part ways with the FLSA 

where the language of Nevada’s statutes has so required.” Terry, supra, at 956, see also, 

Dancer I-VII v. Golden Coin, Ltd., 124 Nev. 28, 32-34, 176 P.3d 271, 274-75 (2008)(holding 
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that Nevada law excluded tips from the calculation of an employee’s minimum wages- 

contrary to the rule under the FLSA—because the language was entirely conflicting.) Here, 

the language of Nevada’s statutes is clear, persons can be conclusively presumed to be 

independent contractors. See NRS 608.0155. 

NRS 608.0155, provides a set of criteria to define an independent contractor, not an 

employee. See NRS 608.0155. Plaintiffs argue that the MWA does not provide a clear 

definition of an employee. MSJ, 12:4-12. Notably, the Nevada legislature did not enact a set 

of criteria to determine whether someone is an “employee,” it enacted a statute to determine 

an independent contractor, which was entirely lacking. See NRS 608.0155. In Thomas, the 

Court dealt with the imposition of a purported “exception” which contradicted the definition 

of “employee” within the MWA. See supra, Thomas, 327 P.3d at 521. Here, it is essential to 

perform the statutory analysis of Plaintiffs pursuant to NRS 608.0155, because any persons 

who fit those criteria are conclusively presumed to be independent contractors. See NRS 

608.0155. Therefore, the MWA can never apply to those individuals as independent 

contractors, as a matter of law.  Since NRS 608.0155(2) states that: 

  The fact that a person is not conclusively presumed to be an independent  
                   contractor for failure to satisfy three or more of the criteria set forth in  
                   paragraph (c) of subsection 1 does not automatically create a presumption  
                   that the person is an employee. 

There is no encroachment on constitutional supremacy. The definition of “employee” 

under the MWA is separate and apart, and NRS 608.0155 duly contemplates that there is 

another analysis for determining what business relationship exists between two parties. To 

reiterate, the key issue which Plaintiffs continue to ignore is that NRS 608.0155 was 

instituted after Terry.  In Terry, the Court stated, that NRS 608.011 lacked direction and was 

not materially different than a federal counterpart. Terry, supra, at 956.  However, even were 
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it in direct conflict the Nevada Supreme Court still looks to specific Nevada statutory 

language and legislative intent in making determinations. See Boucher v. Shaw, 124 Nev. 

1164, 196 P.3d 959 (2008)(holding that the statutory language was not intended to pierce 

corporate veil because the legislature specifically excluded references to managers).    At the 

time of Terry there was no statutory text to guide the Nevada Supreme Court’s deciphering 

whether the dancers in that matter were in fact employees or were independent contractors. 

See generally, Terry, supra.  Here, as the Nevada Supreme Court has had available for other 

issues, like in deciding tip offset or whether to make managers personally liable, there is now 

a clear statute, with clear statutory intent regarding independent contractors. See NRS 

608.0155; see also, supra, Dancer I-VII v. Golden Coin, Ltd., 124 Nev. 28, Boucher v. Shaw, 

124 Nev. 1164.  Therefore, although NRS 608.0155 fills in a gap in wage and hour 

definitions, and is applicable pursuant to this Court’s order, to the extent that it “conflicts” as 

Plaintiffs’ argue, this Court should still follow the Nevada Supreme Court’s lead and look to 

its specific language and intent.  

D.  Plaintiffs’ Undisputed Material Facts Fail to Establish that Plaintiffs are    
 Employees as a Matter of Law and the Evidence Establishes they are 
 Independent  Contractors. 

 
Plaintiffs cite to documents disclosed by Defendant, and attempt to use those “guidelines” 

which Plaintiffs agreed to as independent contractors as, essentially “one-size fits all” 

evidence. See MSJ, SOF. Indeed, as is evidence above, Plaintiffs fail to give context to many 

of the guidelines and neglect to take into account testimony by Defendant’s Person Most 

Knowledgeable regarding actual practices of Defendant. See, supra, Exhibit A.  Most notably, 

Plaintiffs completely fail to cite to any of their own admissible evidence, including any of 

their own sworn testimony.  Id.  Tellingly, this is because Plaintiffs’ individual testimony, 
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which was so varied that it mandated this Court deny their motion for class certification, 

shows a wide array of business skills, personal management, and even relationship dynamic 

between the Plaintiffs and Defendant. See generally, Exhibits C-I. Plaintiffs essentially try to 

mold their facts into ones like where the Terry court found exotic dancers in that case to be 

employees as a matter of law. MSJ, 18:13-19:23, and generally, SOFs.  

Again, the only applicable analysis in this case, based on the Court’s previous ruling is 

one done pursuant to NRS 608.0155. NRS 608.0155 provides, in pertinent part, that at person 

is presumptively an independent contractor if: 

           (a) Unless the person is a foreign national who is legally present in the 
 United States, the person possesses or has applied for an employer identification 
 number or social security number or has filed an income tax return for a 
 business or earnings from self-employment with the Internal Revenue Service in 
 the previous year 

 
 (b) The person is required by the contract with the principal to hold any 

 necessary state business registration or local business license and to maintain 
 any necessary occupational license, insurance or bonding; and 

       
(c) The person satisfies three or more of the following criteria: 
             (1) Notwithstanding the exercise of any control necessary to comply with 

 any statutory, regulatory or contractual obligations, the person has control and 
 discretion over the means and manner of the performance of any work and the 
 result of the work, rather than the means or manner by which the work is 
 performed, is the primary element bargained for by the principal in the contract. 

             (2) Except for an agreement with the principal relating to the completion 
 schedule, range of work hours or, if the work contracted for is entertainment, the 
 time such entertainment is to be presented, the person has control over the time 
 the work is performed. 

             (3) The person is not required to work exclusively for one principal unless: 
                   (I) A law, regulation or ordinance prohibits the person from providing 

 services to more than one principal; or 
                   (II) The person has entered into a written contract to provide services to 

 only one principal for a limited period. 
            (4) The person is free to hire employees to assist with the work. 
            (5) The person contributes a substantial investment of capital in the 

 business of the person, including, without limitation, the: 
                   (I) Purchase or lease of ordinary tools, material and equipment 

 regardless of source; 
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                   (II) Obtaining of a license or other permission from the principal to 
 access any work space of the principal to perform the work for which the person 
 was engaged; and 

                  (III) Lease of any work space from the principal required to perform the 
 work for which the person was engaged. 

 
 The determination of whether an investment of capital is substantial for the 

 purpose of this subparagraph must be made on the basis of the amount of 
 income the person receives, the equipment commonly used and the expenses 
 commonly incurred in the trade or profession in which the person engages. 

 
      2.  The fact that a person is not conclusively presumed to be an independent 

contractor for failure to satisfy three or more of the criteria set forth in paragraph (c) of 
subsection 1 does not automatically create a presumption that the person is an 
employee. 

        

Plaintiffs each satisfy the criteria detailed above, as such, they are conclusively presumed 

to be independent contractors, and cannot be employees. See generally, Defendant’s Motion 

for Summary Judgment. The MWA applies only to employers and dictates that they pay 

wages to their “employees.” See NEV. CONST., Art. XV, § 16(A).  There is nothing within 

the Nevada Constitution, Nevada statutory authority, or any other administrative code which 

precludes gentlemen’s clubs engaging in an independent contractor business relationship with 

exotic dancers, or deems all exotic dancers as employees.  The fact that Plaintiffs are seeking 

an all encompassing judgment as to distinct and separate individuals 4 is absurd in light of the 

fact that there is presently no class, and no class at the time of filing their motion for summary 

judgment. See generally, Docket. Tellingly, even when going through the “economic 

realities” test, which does not apply here, Plaintiffs fail to cite any of their own testimony or 

evidence to demonstrate they were actually subjected to “significant control”, or how they 

satisfied or did not satisfy any of the other criteria of that test. See generally, MSJ.  

Furthermore, Plaintiffs have failed to cite to any authority that completely relieves an 

                                                           
 4 There are only five named Plaintiffs remaining with claims under the MWA and for unjust enrichment, there 
    are two additional named Plaintiffs who only have a claim for unjust enrichment. 
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independent contractor from agreeing to any rules or regulations, or requires a venue, or 

contracting party to allow an entertainer to have any guidelines or even restrictions, 

particularly when there are third parties involved. Id. Indeed, anyone providing services for 

any type of business would be expected to observe some regulations, whether they be 

deadlines, standards expectations or even dress codes. For instance, if a shared office space 

rented to an individual conducting a consulting business, they would still need to follow rules, 

likely about dress, legal requirements, and hours, and usage of the common areas.  Notably, 

there is no actual dispute over the first two criteria of NRS 608.0155. There is no dispute that 

Plaintiffs meet NRS 601.0155(1)(a). See MSJ, 23:9-28. Plaintiffs’ only argument is that the 

Agreement they signed did not have language regarding their business license but it actuality, 

the statute does not say whether a contract must be written, and there is no dispute that 

Plaintiffs had to have a valid Nevada business license and Sheriff’s card to perform in 

Defendant’s venue. Exhibit A, 34:1-11. 

 As addressed in more detail above, Plaintiffs alleged SOFs do not materially affect the 

law in this case, and do not entitle them to judgment as a matter of law declaring any and all 

exotic dancers as employees. See supra. Particularly, Plaintiffs are clearly independent 

contractors responsible for their own performances, own income, and own result, when the 

individual Plaintiffs and their actual circumstances are analyzed. See, Defendant’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment.  Indeed, at least some of the SOFs affected Defendant’s customers more 

than any individual dancer. See SOFs 3, 11, 15, 17.  For instance, Defendant seated guests, 

who came into the club, however there were drink minimums in different areas for the guests 

themselves. Exhibit A, 68:14-24. However, Plaintiffs did not have a required number of lap 

dances, or a quota of dances they needed to perform, or a quota of time that they needed to 

APP 1318



 

 
 

Page 23 of 28 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

spend in a VIP area, or time spent within the club. See supra, Exhibit A; Exhibit C, 40:3-10, 

Exhibit D, 26:9-12, 68:24-69:1; Exhibit E, 52:25-53:3; Exhibit F, 34:13-16; Exhibit G, 

19:15-17; Exhibit H, 88:8-10; Exhibit I, 22:22-24.  Additionally, there was no required 

number of guests for Plaintiffs to approach, and they could actually approach any number of 

patrons they chose while at Crazy Horse III.  Exhibit C, 40:3-10; Exhibit, D, 26:13-15, 59:2-

4; Exhibit E, 32:22-33:7; Exhibit F, 34:17-23; Exhibit G, 19:12-14, Exhibit H, 95:14-19; 

Exhibit I, 49:3-6. Additionally, the mere fact that Defendant did not want Plaintiffs 

discouraging patrons from purchasing alcohol has nothing to do with Defendant controlling 

Plaintiffs or mandating the Plaintiffs sell or partake in alcohol.  In fact, Plaintiffs could 

consume or not consume alcohol as they chose.  Plaintiffs could consume alcohol while 

performing at Crazy Horse III, if they chose to do so, or refrain from drinking. Exhibit C, 

22:14-17; Exhibit D, 66:12-13; Exhibit E, 46:6-7; Exhibit F, 59:3-5; Exhibit G, 44:17-18; 

Exhibit H, 90:3-24; Exhibit I, 25:5-11. 

 Plaintiffs’ MSJ states that Defendant required dancers to check in and out, and also 

assigned “work shifts” for each dancer. SOFs, 14, 23. However, Defendant had to implement 

a check-in/check-out policy to be compliant with metro, local, and/or state guidelines, as they 

were an exotic dance venue, and have a liquor license. Exhibit A, 113:23-114:3.  

Additionally, Plaintiffs, could and did regularly check out after work any amount of time.  

For example, one Plaintiff performed for only 2.75 hours while another one stayed for 13.05 

hours. Exhibit J, Log-in, Log-out Documents for Plaintiff Park and Plaintiff Strelkova5. 

Additionally, many of the Plaintiffs had an agreement with Defendant that they could access 

the premises at any time, and therefore, were not assigned any “shift.” Exhibit E, 26:22-25; 

Exhibit F, 19:12-18; Exhibit G, 13:5-11.   

                                                           
 5 Information previously produced electronically. 
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 Plaintiffs’ stress that they were required to follow Entertainer Guidelines and 

Entertainer Rules, and that they were fined, placed on inactive status or terminated if they 

violated these rules. MSJ, SOFs 1, 2.  However, Defendant’s Person Most Knowledgeable 

testified to the opposite of that, in fact stating that he did not believe in fining the dancers, and 

Plaintiffs did not provide any actual admissible evidence that any of them suffered any 

“fining” or “termination,” or that they were actually placed on “inactive” status due to 

violation of any of Defendant’s alleged rules or guidelines. See Exhibit A, supra, 83:12-14.  

 Plaintiffs also claim that some alleged dress code guidelines, or because there were 

certain guidelines about when a dancer should take her top off when performing on stage 

demonstrate that Defendant controlled Plaintiffs. See SOFs 17, 18. However, this is not 

largely indicative of any control over the means and manner in which Plaintiffs perform their 

exotic dancing, nor does Plaintiff cite authority to such effect. Even entering a store or 

restaurant persons are subjected to dress codes. Plaintiffs had significant latitude in selecting 

their outfits, and there is no dispute that Plaintiffs agreed to work in a gentlemen’s cabaret 

where exotic, topless dances are performed.  Each Plaintiff could choose her outfits and 

overall look, with some of the Plaintiff’s choosing signature accessories, such as special 

earrings, within the confines of the Agreement, as long as it also comported with legal 

requirements for exotic dancers. Exhibit A, 43:10-21, 108:3-17; Exhibit C,18:4-5, 33:10-25; 

Exhibit D, 43:19-25; Exhibit E, 40:17-41:14; Exhibit F, 28:12-29:21; Exhibit G, 35:7-9; 

Exhibit H, 80:3-15; Exhibit I, 19:19-25. Again, there is no dispute that Plaintiffs are free to 

enter business contracts, and free to agree to perform subject to guidelines and legal 

requirements, which they each did for varying lengths of time. See Exhibit H, and see 

generally, Answer to Third Amended Complaint and Counterclaims.  
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 Although Plaintiffs were not supposed to ask for reimbursement of any 10% 

redemption fee on dance dollars, Plaintiffs were free to refuse to accept dance dollars. SOF 

22, Exhibit A, 71:1-2, Exhibit C, 46:17-24; Exhibit E, 60:4-17; Exhibit F, 39:12-14; Exhibit 

G, 38:21-39:4; Exhibit H, 142:2-24. Again, this fact is not illustrative of Defendant’s control 

over Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs continue to try to mold the facts of this case, where the Plaintiffs 

had significant autonomy and control to facts in other cases with other defendants. See 

generally MSJ. Indeed, the facts here, illustrate that Plaintiffs did meet the criteria of NRS 

608.0155, and in particular, NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(1), which happens to be similar to one of the 

factors under the, otherwise inapplicable, “economic realities” test. 

 Plaintiffs’ argue that they fail to satisfy the criteria of the other NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2-

5), however, they again, blatantly ignore their own testimony which evidences that they did in 

fact meet those criteria. See generally, MSJ 24-26. For example, Plaintiffs were free to hire 

employees to assist her business of being an exotic dancer. Lamar Depo., 32:12-16; Shepard 

Depo., 82:25-83:10; Franklin Depo., 72:5-7. Additionally, the Plaintiffs did spend a lot of 

money on maintenance and other investments to enhance their career as an exotic dancer. For 

example, Plaintiff Jacqueline Franklin testified to the fact that she had gotten breast implants, 

facial injections, and cosmetic veneers largely because she was an adult dancer (all of which 

is plainly a significant investment). See Exhibit F, 55:22-56:8. Plaintiff Karina Strelkova 

estimated spending about $300.00-400.00 per month just on her makeup, hair, and nails. See 

Exhibit E, 36:24-37:11. Plaintiffs’ refusal to acknowledge even their own sworn testimony 

which clearly evidences that they meet all of the requisites to conclusively be presumed an 

independent contractor is significant.  This Court found already, that NRS 608.0155 applies, 

and accordingly, due to the presumptive nature of the statutes, this analysis must first be 
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performed in order to determine whether an individual is an independent contractor. See 

Order denying Class Certification; see also, NRS 608.0155. Plaintiffs, as individuals, must be 

subjected to this test, and tellingly their testimony along with the documentary evidence, meet 

the essential requisites of being presumptively, independent contractors. Therefore, Plaintiffs’ 

claims under the MWA fail, as a matter of law, because they are not employees. See NEV. 

CONST., Art XV, Sec. 15. 

     E. Plaintiffs’ Argument that there is No Underlying Contract is Flawed and  
     Disingenuous 

 
Plaintiffs’ statement of “undisputed material facts” states that Defendant required all 

dancers to sign an entertainment agreement defining their relationship. See MSJ, 7:14-18. 

Plaintiffs go on to reference Bates Numbered documents RR0043-0047, attached as Exhibit 2 

to their MSJ. Id. This “Entertainers Agreement” (“Agreement”), clearly states that the parties 

agree that the entertainer is “not an employee” and that Defendant is providing the facilities 

as a performance location for the entertainer. See Exhibit 2 to MSJ.  Plaintiffs also state as an 

“undisputed fact” that Defendant did not issue W-2s or 1099s to dancers. MSJ, 8:1-3. 

However, Plaintiffs then proceed to argue that NRS 608.0155 there is “no underlying contract 

to perform work.” MSJ, 22:10-23:2. However, Plaintiffs go on to essentially concede that 

NRS 608.0155 could be “coherently applied” where the parties did have a contract to perform 

work. See MSJ, 22:24-28.  Plaintiffs’ argument that NRS 608.0155 is inapplicable, 

additionally fails, because they failed to meet, what many jurisdictions hold to be, the 

“antecedent question” to finding a putative employer/employee relationship, which is whether 

any compensation was paid from the putative employer.  See e.g. O’Connor v. Davis, 126 

F.3d 112, (2nd Cir. 1997). It is unclear what Plaintiffs believed they were doing or how they 

intended to be compensated by Defendant, as they each undisputedly showed up on 
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Defendant’s premises, performed and collected money directly from patrons and not 

Defendant. See Third Amended Complaint.  In fact, until the filing of their complaint, 

Plaintiffs never even bothered to try to ask for compensation from Defendant. See Exhibit C, 

70:16-23; Exhibit D, 91:25-92:2; Exhibit E, 65:17-25; Exhibit F, 68:21-23; Exhibit G, 53:1-

4. In fact, when Plaintiff Karina Strelkova was asked why she never asked anyone at Crazy 

Horse III to pay her wages, she responded: 

Why would I? I’m not there to apply for another job.  

Id at Exhibit E. Additionally, during the deposition of Plaintiff Danielle Lamar, when 

questioned about whether she asked for wages, she testified: 

Q.   Okay.  So when you were at Crazy Horse, did you ever ask anyone to be paid wages?      
A.   No.   
 
Q.   How come?   
A.   Because I was an independent contractor.  
 
Q.   Did you ask anyone at Crazy Horse to become an employee?   
A.   No. (emphasis added.) 
 
Id. at Exhibit C.  It is undisputed that Plaintiffs were licensed as, and conducted 

themselves as, sole proprietorships. Indeed, Plaintiffs recognized this fact, Plaintiff Karina 

Strelkova specifically testified:  

A: To me this is a business.  Exhibit E, 31:15. 

Plaintiffs fail to meaningfully even analyze the factors of 608.0155, because they cannot 

accurately and adequately provide evidence that each and every Plaintiff does not meet the 

factors of the test.  Indeed, Defendant has filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, detailing 

how each of the Plaintiffs does in fact meet the criteria of 608.0155 when they are analyzed 

on the basis of their own testimony, the documentary evidence, and the actuality of 

circumstances under which they performed. Plaintiffs precursory run though of the 608.0155 
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factors, essentially cites other case law, and relies heavily upon the decision in Terry which 

again, was prior to its enactment. See NRS 608.0155, see generally, MSJ, 23-26.  

Plaintiffs also meet the remaining criteria of NRS 608.0155, as they undisputedly had no 

exclusivity with Defendant, they had complete freedom over when they performed, or 

stopped performing altogether.  

V. CONCLUSION 

    Based on the foregoing arguments, Defendant respectfully requests that this Court deny 

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment in its entirety since Plaintiffs’ undisputed material 

facts do not entitle them to summary judgment as a matter of law, as Plaintiffs’ clearly fall 

under the applicable criteria of NRS 608.0155.  Plaintiffs’ are not de facto employees and are 

presumptively independent contractors, and therefore are not entitled to summary judgment in 

their favor.  

DATED this 6th day of July, 2017. 
  
     MORAN BRANDON BENDAVID MORAN 
 

     /s/ Jeffery A. Bendavid, Esq.  
     JEFFERY A. BENDAVID, ESQ. 
     Nevada Bar No. 6220 
     STEPHANIE J. SMITH, ESQ. 
     Nevada Bar No. 11280 
     630 South 4th Street 
     Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
     (702) 384-8424 
      
     KAMER ZUCKER ABBOTT 
 
     /s/ Gregory J. Kamer, Esq.   
     GREGORY J. KAMER, ESQ. 
     Nevada Bar No. 0270 
     KAITLIN H. ZIEGLER, ESQ. 
     Nevada Bar No. 013625 
     3000 W. Charleston Blvd., #3 
     Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 
     Attorneys for Defendant 
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